Illinois State University

ISU ReD: Research and eData

Theses and Dissertations

3-24-2023

The Relationship between Cardiac Load and Metabolic Changes throughout a Collegiate Cross-country Season

Jacob M. Gillum Illinois State University, jgillum15@yahoo.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd

Recommended Citation

Gillum, Jacob M., "The Relationship between Cardiac Load and Metabolic Changes throughout a Collegiate Cross-country Season" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1671. https://ir.library.illinoisstate.edu/etd/1671

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ISU ReD: Research and eData. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ISU ReD: Research and eData. For more information, please contact ISUReD@ilstu.edu.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CARDIAC LOAD AND METABOLIC CHANGES THROUGHOUT A COLLEGIATE CROSS-COUNTRY SEASON

JACOB M. GILLUM

78 Pages

Overtraining is a widespread epidemic in collegiate cross-cross country which causes excessive fatigue and limits improvement in critical physiological measures such as maximal oxygen uptake (VO2 max), ventilatory threshold (VT), and running economy (RE). Research has suggested that overtraining can be identified by monitoring daily and weekly cardiac load (CL) as well as changes in load over time measured by an acute to chronic cardio load ratio (A:C). Assessing the relationships between these foundational aerobic athlete variables and A:C will provide important information about fitness changes over the course of a competitive season as well as potential insight into the overtraining phenomenon. PURPOSE: To determine the metabolic changes in elite endurance athletes over a cross country season and identify a relationship with cardio load and A:C. METHODS: Volunteer participants ranging from 18-23 years of age were recruited from the Illinois State University cross country team for this study. Athletes recorded heart rate data daily from each training session and attended both a pre and post season laboratory testing session. In the lab, a discontinuous maximal graded exercise test was performed consisting of 3 submaximal bouts lasting 4 minutes each separated by 1 minute of rest. After the 3rd stage and subsequent rest, a maximal ramp protocol was initiated by increasing the incline 1% each minute until volitional exhaustion. An analysis of the metabolic variables of interest was conducted in Microsoft Excel to determine change from pre to posttest as well as

any interactions with cardiac load data. **RESULTS:** A:C tended to decrease throughout the season for most athletes with the team average gradually declining from 1.11 during the week of September 25th to 0.65 for October 30th. Top performers at the postseason championship races had the highest average A:Cs (Top male: 1.30; Top female 0.95), and worst performers for a given race tended to have the lowest relative CL in the preceding week. In the lab, there was high individual variability and few significant global changes. Average VO2 max for males increased from 66.3 mL.kg-1.min-1 during preseason testing to 67.3 mL.kg-1.min-1 for postseason (53.8 to 53.8 for females). Individual outlying VO2 max values tended to regress towards the mean, VT increased slightly for both sexes (Females: +5.1 %VO2; Males: +4.6 %VO2 max) with established long-distance runners consistently demonstrating the highest values, and RE improved moderately for all stages excluding 2 notable outliers. Top performers according to test duration typically had the best RE values for all stages (Female: 42.4, 79.3 & 86.7 %VO2 max for stages 1,2 & 3; Male: 66.1, 72.1, 83.5 %VO2 max). CONCLUSION: Data suggests that maintaining consistently high CL and A:Cs above 0.9 throughout the season may be optimal for improving race performance. Specifically, CL should not decrease significantly in the week leading up to a competition. Physiological testing confirms the importance of measuring VO2 max, VT, and RE, and monitoring changes in these values over the year could be predictive of performance or potential success at specific distances.

KEYWORDS: Cardio Load, Internal Workload, VO2 max, Ventilatory Threshold, Running Economy, Endurance Running

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CARDIAC LOAD AND METABOLIC CHANGES THROUGHOUT A COLLEGIATE CROSS-COUNTRY SEASON

JACOB M. GILLUM

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

School of Kinesiology and Recreation

ILLINOIS STATE UNIVERSITY

2023

© 2023 Jacob M. Gillum

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN CARDIAC LOAD AND METABOLIC CHANGES THROUGHOUT A COLLEGIATE CROSS-COUNTRY SEASON

JACOB M. GILLUM

COMMITTEE MEMBERS:

Dale Brown, Chair

Tyler Kybartas

Kristen Lagally

Samantha McDonald

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I want to extend my sincerest gratitude to each of my committee members for their extraordinary contributions. Thank you, Dr. Tyler Kybartas, for brainstorming this thesis idea and timely advice on laying out data in a way that was not (completely) overwhelming. Thank you, Dr. Samantha McDonald, for your research on testing protocols and countless new ideas. I really appreciated your enthusiasm for this project and matching my lofty expectations for potential future research. Thank you, Dr. Kristen Lagally, for making laboratory testing possible. Many frustrating mornings were spent working out the endless kinks in the new equipment, and I greatly appreciate you working with me to ensure that the exercise tests went smoothly for all the athletes. To my chair, Dr. Dale Brown, thank you specifically for bringing all the pieces together. Your heart rate monitor experience got this project off the ground, and your voice of reason kept it from flying off the rails. Me and any future readers are certainly thankful for you keeping the core vision and keeping this project from spilling out into 100s of pages.

To my friends and teammates that participated in this study, thank you for all your sacrifices. Through bloody chafing heart rate monitors and maximal exercise tests during your well-earned week off, it meant a lot that you all stuck with it and helped me gather some awesome data. Specifically, to my roommate Tyler Klouda, thank you for the many BYO coffee nights at the Bone to get this done. I apologize that you chose to be a stats major but cannot thank you enough for opening my eyes to a whole world of Microsoft Excel that I did not even know existed. Finally, thank you to my parents for the continuous support and encouragement throughout this project. A special thank you to my father for spending your first week of retirement proofreading. May your future weeks be a bit brighter and your reading a bit lighter.

J.M.G.

i

CONTENTS

	Page
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
TABLES	iv
FIGURES	v
CHAPTER I: DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS OF INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES OF DIVISION I CROSS COUNTRY ATHLETES	1
Introduction	1
Methods	4
Sample	4
Procedures	5
Heart Rate Monitoring	5
Data Analytics	5
Metabolic Testing	6
Results	7
Discussion	9
Physiological Changes	10
Cardio Load	14
Practical Application	18
Conclusion	20
Tables	22
Figures	31
References	48
CHAPTER II: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW	52

Internal Workload and Heart Rate Monitoring	52
Physiological Testing	55
References	67
APPENDIX A: CONSENT FORM	73

TABLES

Table		Page
1.	Descriptive Characteristics of the Cross-Country Athletes	22
2.	Weekly Cardio Load Throughout Season measured in Arbitrary Units (AU's)	23
3.	Previous 4 Weeks Average Cardio Load Throughout Season measured in AU's	24
4.	Acute to Chronic Ratios Throughout the Season	25
5.	Race Results of Participating Athletes by Week and Sex	26
6.	Preseason Physiological Testing Results	27
7.	Postseason Physiological Testing Results	28
8.	Percent Change in Key Physiological Variables Between Preseason and Postseason Physiological Testing	29
9.	Absolute Change in Key Physiological Variables Between Preseason and Postseason Physiological Testing	30

FIGURES

Figure	Page
1. Race Data Throughout the Season	31
A. Subject 2	31
B. Subject 3	32
C. Subject 4	33
D. Subject 5	34
E. Subject 6	35
F. Subject 7	36
G. Subject 9	37
H. Subject 12	38
2. Acute to Chronic Ratio Trends Throughout the Season	39
3. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season	40
A. Subject 2	40
B. Subject 3	41
C. Subject 4	42
D. Subject 5	43
E. Subject 6	44
F. Subject 7	45
G. Subject 9	46
H. Subject 12	47

CHAPTER I: DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS OF INTERNAL WORKLOAD AND PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES OF DIVISION I CROSS COUNTRY ATHLETES Introduction

The structure of a successful endurance athlete training program is predicated on maintaining a delicate balance between work and rest. Too little physiological stress ignores the principle of progressive overload and limits fitness adaptations; too much causes the body to enter a state of overreaching. Overreaching for an extended period can lead to overtraining syndrome which promotes greater general fatigue, decreases motivation, heightens injury risk, and ultimately causes impaired performance (1). In order to optimize fitness benefits, a successful training plan must continually manage volume and intensity while providing adequate rest for the athlete to avoid overtraining. Unfortunately, this concept of overtraining is highly individualized and can be difficult to identify and nearly impossible to quantify.

One emerging line of research attempts to predict and prevent overtraining by utilizing heart rate data (2). By measuring the time spent in each heart rate zone during a given workout, it is possible to approximate the cardiac work done by the body during that session. Tracking this internal cardio load (CL) provides a quantifiable variable which gives insight into how hard the athlete is working on a given day. In this study CL is calculated based upon a proprietary algorithm from Polar Electro based out of Kempele, Finland which is integrated into the data retrieved from heart rate monitoring units. CL can be useful for creating training plans which manage intensity increases appropriately according to the principle of progressive overload.

Perhaps an even more useful application, however, arises from the changes in internal load over time. Research suggests that acute spikes in intensity relative to an individual athlete's normal effort are related to both increased injury risk and diminished fitness gains (3, 4, 5, 6, 7).

This concept is quantified by a metric known as the acute to chronic internal load ratio (A:C). A:C is calculated by dividing the sum of the CL scores for the current week by the average of the CL scores from the previous weeks. The most commonly used time frame for chronic load calculations is 4 weeks (8). A systematic review of 27 studies concludes that there is a significant decrease in injury risk when A:C is kept consistently between 0.8 and 1.3 (8).

The outcome variable of interest in this study was performance capacity over a crosscountry race distance of 6-10 kilometers. In addition to raw race results, the 3 foremost predictors of endurance capabilities are maximal oxygen uptake (VO2 max), lactate threshold (LT), and running economy (RE) (9). VO2 max is a measure of the body's ability to take in and utilize oxygen, and it is often measured using a metabolic gas analyzer and an ergometer (9). When intensity is increased on the ergometer without a subsequent increase in VO2, a plateau is said to have been reached indicating that the subject has achieved maximal oxygen consumption (9). In the century since this concept of VO2 max was originally introduced by AV Hill, maximal oxygen uptake has been the primary measure of aerobic fitness in the body. Higher VO2 max relative to body size suggests the ability to continue utilizing aerobic metabolic pathways at higher intensities with higher energy demands. Therefore, elite runners have 50-100% higher VO2 max values than the general healthy population (10). Typical elite values range from 70-85 mL.kg-1.min-1 for males compared to 30-40 mL.kg-1.min-1 for average men (11). Female values tend to be approximately 10% lower due primarily to a higher relative percentage of body fat and lower hemoglobin levels (12).

Although VO2 max is useful for distinguishing between trained and untrained longdistance runners, it loses significant predictive power within an elite population. At the highest levels of competition, there is little variation in VO2 max, and efficiency becomes more significant for performance projection (9). Efficiency, referred to as running economy, is defined as the oxygen cost of running at a given speed and can vary by up to 30-40% between individuals running at the exact same pace (13). This large difference is a product of numerous physiological, metabolic, anatomical, neuromuscular, and biomechanical attributes which allow some runners to move more efficiently than others (9). Running economy is often expressed as a percentage of VO2 max and was assessed in this study at 3 typical training paces for collegiate athletes.

Another prominent predictor of performance in the literature is LT (9). The oxidative capacity of the skeletal muscles determines the point at which the rate of pyruvate production exceeds the capability of the mitochondria to oxidize pyruvate into lactic acid. Beyond this point, lactic acid accumulates at an accelerated rate and the constituent hydrogen ion causes rapid muscle fatigue. Lactic threshold is also a trainable metric and can increase from approximately 60% of VO2 max in untrained subjects to 75-90% VO2 max in elite endurance athletes (14, 15). Those that are able to delay the onset of blood lactate accumulation are able to resist local muscle fatigue longer and will ultimately perform better in an endurance event. Unfortunately, accurate measurement of lactate threshold requires finger-prick blood samples which can be uncomfortable for participants during a maximal exercise test. Therefore, this study opted to measure ventilatory threshold (VT) as a best approximation. VT occurs when the body utilizes the bicarbonate buffering system to remove lactic acid from the blood and produces excess nonmetabolic CO2 (16) Although there are slight differences between LT and VT, the two metrics both describe anaerobic threshold, are highly correlated (r=.95), and will be assumed to have the same predictive power for race performance (17).

Together, these three variables were assessed along with raw race results in order to describe overall endurance performance capacity. If an athlete is training optimally, fitness should increase, and that improvement will be reflected in the physiology laboratory data. However, if the overtraining which we hope to quantify via A:C using heart rate monitoring occurs, then fitness gains will be limited. The purpose of this study was to examine the relationship between the internal load data and the described changes in VO2 max, RE, and VT throughout a cross-country season in Division I runners. As a secondary objective, this study will try to identify changes in these key physiological variables from pre to post season for an elite collegiate population. It is hypothesized that there will be significant increases in VO2 max, RE, and VT, and that the magnitude of these changes will be associated with A:C internal load data such that more time spent within the optimal 0.8-1.3 ratio predicts greater improvements.

Methods

Sample

A total of 14 college-age endurance athletes (6 men and 8 women) were recruited from the Illinois State University cross country team. Two individuals dropped out due to scheduling concerns prior to the preseason VO2 testing, and one additional participant was unable to complete postseason testing after suffering a stress injury. Of the 11 athletes that completed the study, all were college-age adults (18-23 years old) and expected to have elite or near-elite VO2 max values (Males: >60 mL.kg-1.min-1; Females: >50 mL.kg-1.min-1). The Institutional Review Board approved of all data collection procedures, and an informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to testing.

Procedures

Data collection was conducted in two parts: Cardiac load was measured daily during each training session by Polar heart rate monitoring technology, and pre/post season metabolic data was collected in the Illinois State University School of Kinesiology and Recreation's Exercise Physiology Laboratory at 2 time points 10-12 weeks apart during the fall 2022 semester.

Heart Rate Monitoring

During the first official week of the cross-country season, Polar H10 heart rate monitoring devices were given to all participants. After signing an informed consent form, participants were instructed on how to collect and share data. First, each participant was shown how to moisten the electrodes on the heart rate strap, attach the H10 monitor, and secure the strap with the peanut resting snugly in the center of the chest against the sternum. Using the Polar Beat application on their smartphones, participants then recorded the activity and uploaded it to Polar Flow where researchers could access the data. In order to minimize down time and obtain meaningful average heart values, athletes were instructed not to include static warmups or weight training sessions in the data collection recording. All running and other endurance activities (cycling, swimming, etc) were included. Cardiac load was recorded session by session as well as on a daily and weekly average. A:Cs were also calculated by dividing the current weekly CL by the chronic load average over the preceding 4 weeks.

Data Analytics

At the start of the study, a glitch with the HR monitors caused them to fail to record data out of Bluetooth range from the phone with the Polar app. 34 of the 714 recorded training sessions lost data before this error could be addressed, and these days were later filled with the season-average CL for the individual whose data was not recorded. Additionally, the participants

5

in this study were not comfortable wearing the monitors during race days, and thus no CL data was recorded. Instead, race day data was estimated to be equal to an individual's maximum workout CL from throughout the season. The monitors were self-tested and race CL including warm up and cooldown was found to be not less than the maximum CL for any other workout. Although this method loses some amount of accuracy, athlete comfort was a priority in this descriptive study. Also, data points were necessary for the calculation of A:C and self-testing results suggest that this strategy is the best possible approximation.

Metabolic Testing

Maximal exercise testing was conducted on a Trackmaster 4000 treadmill, and metabolic data were collected via indirect calorimetry using the Vyntus Vyaire metabolic cart. Prior to each day of testing, the metabolic cart was calibrated according to the user manual including both air flow and gas analyzer verification. As the athletes arrived, height and weight measurements were recorded to the nearest 0.1 cm and 0.1 kg. Next participants were fitted with Hans Rudolph 7450 Series Masks and corresponding head strap apparatuses as well as Polar H10 Heart Rate Devices. They were then instructed to complete self-guided warm-ups reflective of normal race-day preparations and allowed to start the test.

The discontinuous VO2 max protocol selected for this study was comprised of 3 submaximal speeds (14, 16, and 18 km/hour for the men and 10, 12, and 14 km/hour for the women) lasting 4 minutes each separated by 1 minute resting periods. All 3 stages were performed at 1% grade. These speeds and incline were selected to simulate typical training paces for both sexes and allow for accurate assessment of running economy at familiar workloads. Immediately following the 3rd stage, the belt was paused for a final 1-minute rest before initiating a maximal ramp protocol. Here, the treadmill speed was increased to 20 km/hour for men (16

km/hour for women), a simulated 10 km race effort, at 1% grade. Each minute, the incline was raised by 1% while holding the speed constant until volitional exhaustion. VO2 max, HR max, and RE expressed as %VO2 max were recorded for all 3 stages. All data points were recorded throughout the test in 20 second intervals, and VO2 max was considered to be the single highest VO2 value achieved over the 20 second time period. RE for each stage was assessed by averaging the VO2 values achieved for the last minute of each stage (3 20-second intervals) after steady state had been achieved. VT was also calculated using the Vyntus software to identify the point of respiratory compensation at which the increase in VCO2 outpaced the increase in VO2. Verification criteria for a true maximal VO2 included an RER above 1.10 and a maximal HR within 10 bpm of age predicted max heart rate. A typical test for this population lasted approximately 18-20 minutes for both sexes, and all athletes achieved a true maximal effort except for one instance in post-season testing which will be addressed. After 10-12 weeks, as athletes completed their respective cross-country seasons, they reported to the lab for follow-up post-season measurements. The exact same procedure was repeated, and changes were recorded for each metabolic variable of interest.

Results

Descriptive characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1. A total of 6 male and 8 female participants from a Division I university volunteered for the study. However, due to HR monitor discomfort, 4 males and 2 females elected to drop out of the HR monitoring portion of the study. One of these women later suffered an injury and could not complete the second round of laboratory testing. Data from these cases are available but have been omitted from discussion of the results.

7

Table 2, Table 3, and Table 4 display the acute CL, preceding 4 week chronic CL, and the 4 week A:Cs respectively throughout the season. Data collection began August 28th and continued until the week of November 6th, and weekly CL values can be seen in Table 2. Note, Subjects 5 and 11 suffered from various injuries throughout the season especially in the final weeks and recorded values near 0 which artificially lowered the team-wide weekly CL averages. Because chronic load calculation requires having 4 complete weeks of data, Table 3 values begin the week of September 25th. Similarly, the A:Cs presented in Table 4 are calculated by dividing values from Table 2 by values from Table 3 and therefore are only available from September 25th onward. Averages A:Cs were computed both for each individual and for the team during each week of the season.

Table 5 depicts the race results of all study participants in meets where a full team (>5 runners) competed. Note that the women's race distance is 6 kilometers and the men's is 8 kilometers. For the final race of the year, NCAA Midwest Regionals, which was contested on 11/03, the men ran 10 km so the final time was converted to 8 km by dividing the total race time by 10 and multiplying the calculated 1 kilometer average by 8. Because there is variability in course difficulty and weather conditions, place on team for participating athletes was also considered. Percentile rank for each race was calculated by dividing place on team by total number of Illinois State University athletes competing in that race to provide an additional outcome variable which is not dependent on course conditions.

Table 6 & 7 present pre and post season metabolic data respectively measured in the physiology lab sessions. For each stage of testing, RE is recorded both as an absolute VO2 value as well as a relative percentage of VO2 max. Duration is measured in seconds and considered from the start of the final ramp protocol to test termination. Finally, VT is expressed both at the

absolute VO2 value at which respiratory compensation occurred, as determined by the Vyntus Vyaire software, as well as a percentage of each individual's VO2 max. Female, male, and overall averages are also given. Table 8 & 9 show the percentage and absolute change respectively between the pre and post season testing. In general, beneficial adaptations are represented by positive changes, but improved RE is indicated by a decrease in oxygen cost to run the given pace and therefore negative changes are desirable.

Figure 1 graphs the race time and position on team for each athlete over the course of the season. These graphs include all races contested by that participant and vary slightly depending on which athletes qualified for championship races. A linear average of race time is also included to demonstrate season-long trends. A negative slope indicates faster times and improved performance. Figure 2 compiles the A:C trends throughout the season for each subject. Once again, subjects 5 & 11 dealt with injuries especially at the end of the year, which is reflected in the outlying low values. Subject 12 ran his longest run of the season the week of November 6th and is the only male who raced the 10 km distance that final week of the season which likely contributes to his abnormally high A:C. Finally, Figure 3 is a combination graph with the line representing race time and the bar displaying cardio load from the week preceding each race. Lower CL indicates lower relative intensity that week and lower race time indicates better performance.

Discussion

This investigation explored the daily, weekly, and monthly CL placed on Division I cross country athletes as well as the physiological changes undergone throughout a competitive season.

9

Physiological Changes

The first laboratory testing session took place within the first 2 weeks of the crosscountry season, and the second was conducted within 1 week of the end of the season for each athlete. Although there was some variability in the end date depending on which athletes qualified for conference and regional meets, the time between tests was approximately 3 months. In this timeframe, we expect to see improvement in key physiological variables. Specifically, athletes who improved over the season should show a higher VO2 max and VT and/or a lower RE at the prescribed paces. All tests met the secondary criteria of RER > 1.10 and HR within 10 bpm of age predicted max except for Subject 4's post season test. This subject only achieved a maximal RER of 1.08 but had a HR of 209 bpm and reported an RPE of 19 in the final stage. Given the few participants and predominantly descriptive nature of this study, her test was included in the analysis, but her data specifically should be interpreted with caution.

Overall, VO2 max did not improve appreciably between tests, but there was high variability between individuals. As seen in Table 8, the 2 women who lost significant VO2 max capacity from pre to post season were Subjects 5 and 7. One explanation is that these two athletes are also the only undergraduate participants in this study. Although no research could be found to support this conclusion, personal experience with the sport suggests that the transition from high school to collegiate running can be difficult especially in low mileage runners and often results in impaired performance during the first few NCAA seasons. Perhaps less experience with the collegiate running intensity made them more susceptible to overtraining and thus led to decreased VO2 max throughout the long season. If this were the case, the data may suggest the need to modify training according to age and experience level to avoid overtraining and underperforming at the end of the competitive season. Another possible explanation,

however, is that these runners were simply regressing towards the mean considering that they had the highest initial VO2 max in the preseason. On the men's side, Subject 12, a senior, demonstrated a similar pattern. All athletes train on their own in the summer preseason but perform the same training throughout the season, so it logically follows that VO2 max scores might cluster around the mean for postseason testing. Without more subjects, it is impossible to discern concrete relationships, but trends for both age/experience based training and overtraining may be worth monitoring in future research.

VT was measured in the final stage at the point where VCO2 outpaced VO2 indicating a respiratory compensation threshold. In general, both men and women showed improvement over the course of the season, but there was a high degree of variability. Additionally, some VT values seen in Table 3 and Table 4 occurred at over 90% of measured VO2 max. According to classic literature such a result is unlikely as even the most elite runners tend not to have a VT in excess of 90% VO2 max (14). It is possible that the discontinuous nature of the test is not conducive to accurate VT measurement. The Vyntus software relies on slopes of ventilation, VO2, and VCO2 to calculate VT, and the repeated starting and stopping may have impacted its ability to recognize VT, and the runners themselves may have responded differently in a continuous test. In future studies, a manual plot of ventilation and VO2 and/or VCO2 may be beneficial to assess VT specifically in the final stages of this protocol. Nonetheless, the methodology was consistent across all trials and trends may still be cautiously observed from VT data. One point of interest is that the highest male and female VTs, Subjects 12 and 5 respectively, are both longer distance runners in track with primary events in the 5k and 10k. Conversely, Subjects 4, 6, and 11 are all predominantly 800m and 1500m runners. Higher VT allows a runner to maintain a pace closer to VO2 max for a longer period of time without

accumulating lactate. Perhaps high VT could predict tolerance or success at longer distances. However, some of the unrealistic VT values achieved in this study suggest that more research with a better VT identification protocol is necessary to confirm any of the observed trends.

The running economy paces were selected to simulate common training paces. Stage 1 represents a typical recovery day run, and Stage 2 reflects a long tempo effort that athletes typically ran at the end of long runs or beginning of workouts. Finally, Stage 3 is intended to imitate a threshold tempo workout run at a pace slightly slower than VT which these runners targeted 1-2 times per week during in-season training. Over the 3-month trial period during which athletes became increasingly familiar with these paces, it should be expected that RE decreased for each stage from pre to post testing. However, this was not the case. Table 7 indicates that there was actually a slight increase or no significant change in RE on average across both sexes for all 3 measured paces. Given the observed relationship between RE and performance, this result is potentially concerning (13). However, as evidenced in Table 7, there is a high individual variation in RE for both sexes. Specifically, Subjects 4 and 9 both had significant negative changes in RE especially for the first pace in stage 1. It is possible that an inadequate warm-up or pre-test anxiety artificially elevated these values beyond their typical O2 cost at the Stage 1 paces. Removing these two outliers would show a trend towards improved RE for both sexes, but it is impossible to make any concrete conclusions without additional testing and more participants.

By considering duration of the final stage of the test as a performance variable, we can attempt to quantify which athletes improved the most from overall pre to post test. Although the design of this study and small group of participants limits statistical power, it does allow for indepth individual analysis. Notably, the most improved male athlete, Subject 11, lasted 2 minutes longer on the second test compared to the first. This progress was likely brought about by a combination of a 2.6 mL.kg-1.min-1 increase in VO2 max and an 11.7 mL.kg-1.min-1 increase in VT despite little significant change in RE at any stage. The highest female improvement came from Subject 2 who managed to last 80 seconds longer on her posttest with an identical VO2 max gain of 2.6 mL.kg-1.min-1, but an RE improvement of at least -5% for all 3 stages and no significant change in VT. By contrast, Subjects 3 and 4 were the only 2 subjects whose performance worsened on the second test. In both cases, these women had slight decreases in both VO2 max and increases in RE across the board. These four performances are important to note because they reaffirm the credibility of the selected physiological variables as predictors of performance for the participants in this study. Improvement in any combination of VO2 max, VT, and RE are certainly related to elevated performance capacity and decreases appear to have an association with worsening performance.

The male subject with the greatest improvement in VO2 max, Subject 9, also had the lowest VO2 max for his sex at the start of the season. Similarly, Subjects 1 and 2 had 2 of the 3 lowest female VO2 max preseason scores and were the only 2 women to improve in VO2 max throughout the season. Many of the other athletes with higher initial VO2 max values as seen in Table 3 did not improve VO2 max at all despite 3 months of intense training. This trend supports existing research which suggests that VO2 max is trainable to a certain point but is not the primary predictor of performance at an elite level (13). Further evidence for the diminishing returns of VO2 max can be found in Table 6. In this study, the two women with the longest test duration, Subjects 3 and 6, did not have the highest VO2 max values. In fact, their VO2 max scores were only slightly above the female average. However, they did demonstrate the best running economy relative to VO2 max at all 3 stages. Table 7 upholds this trend for the female

athletes. Once again, this result is consistent with literature suggesting that runners needed to attain a minimum threshold for elite VO2, but thereafter performance was more impacted by RE than VO2 max (13).

It should be noted that there are significant limitations to the pre-post test design of this study. First, day to day variation is always a concern and is difficult to account for with only 2 testing days. However, all participants are trained athletes and should be accustomed to standardizing preparation and producing consistent performances on a given day. The greater concern is a diminished motivation from pre to post test. At the beginning, athletes tend to be excited for the upcoming season, and the VO2 max protocol was their first chance to run fast and truly test themselves. Contrast this scenario with the post season test where the athletes had just finished a grueling 3-month long training block culminating in a highly competitive regional championship race. Amidst the celebrating of a successful season, participants were asked to delay their well-earned time off, and come into the lab for a strenuous exercise test. Despite the best efforts of the researchers, excitement and motivation were noticeably lower for certain athletes during the second test, and it is possible that posttest values suffered to some degree because of this. In future studies, it may be ideal to conduct post-test measurements before the final race rather than after, but such a design is difficult to coordinate with hectic training schedules and specific workout needs in the final weeks of the season.

Cardio Load

Cardio load was measured by HR monitor, and weekly load was calculated by summing the workout totals for each session in a given week starting on Sunday. After the first month, chronic load for each participant was determined to be the average of the most recent 4 weeks of activity and A:C was subsequently calculated by dividing the current week's acute load by the chronic load over the preceding 4 weeks. Because the first full week of data collection took place on August 25^{th,} 4-week chronic loads could only be assessed beginning the week of September 25th. Unfortunately, the nature of cross country is such that many of the athletes begin training in earnest over the summer, and therefore A:C data missed the critical initial buildup period despite beginning data collection within the first weeks of the Fall semester. Additionally, Figure 3 indicates that the highest team A:Cs occurred in the first recorded week of September 25th. In order to accurately capture the season-long cardio load changes and see A:Cs leading up to the 25th, data collection in an ideal study would have begun over the summer when the athletes first began training.

Figure 1 shows the finish times of athletes in this study for every race throughout the season. For conference-qualifying athletes of both sexes, there was a trend to perform well early in the season, struggle at the conference meet (10/28), and return to baseline finish times for the final race of the season. It is worth noting that the conference meet had particularly bad weather and times tended to be slow across the board, but both the mens and womens teams still underperformed relative to their competition. Despite 2 months of in-season training, the team as a whole did not improve race times from the beginning of the competitive season. Although there will certainly be some variability course to course and day to day, the 9/30 and 11/11 races were contested on the same course which provides a convenient reference for comparison. Again, there was no significant improvement between the two races for either sex.

Perhaps one contributing factor for this degree of maintenance can be found in the A:C data. These same athletes' average A:Cs started the year at 1.17 just before the first competition, but then gradually declined all the way to 0.81 the week leading up to the conference meet. According to the principle of progressive overload, continually increasing physiological stress is

necessary for beneficial adaptations. A:Cs on this team consistently below 1.0 indicate that the athletes were actually decreasing in intensity rather than increasing. There are many possible explanations for this trend, including specific training needs. Typically, distance programs focus on longer duration aerobic efforts early and pace-specific speed work later, which may elicit lower cardio loads given the decreased duration. In this case, another physiological stress variable such as heart rate variability may be worthwhile to track to give an additional reference for relative intensity. Another possibility, however, is that that some athletes were "tapering" on race weeks by reducing volume on recovery days and intensity on workout days in order to feel fresher for competitions. In this second scenario, tapering athletes may have performed better on early races due to the lower pre-meet intensity, but struggled to improve for post-season meets due to the subsequent decrease in CL and A:C.

This tapering theory is supported by individual A:C data. As seen in Table 3, Subjects 3, 4, and 12 were the 3 athletes with the highest average A:C throughout the season. Figure 2 shows the weekly trends for these runners, and all 3 started high and typically maintained A:Cs close to or above 1.0 even on race weeks throughout the core of the season. Additionally, all 3 had similar, and perhaps optimal, race trends. Figure 1 shows race time performances for these 3 runners, and each of them tended to have their worst races in the middle of the season but set personal bests en route to becoming the top male and top 2 female performers on the team for the last meet of the season, NCAA Midwest Regional Championships. All other athletes in this study had consistently lower A:Cs throughout the season and none ran season's best races at the most competitive final meets of the year. The direction of the relationship is difficult to determine, and there is likely some degree of reciprocal determinism in that the best athletes had resiliency to maintain high A:Cs and those who maintained high A:Cs became the best athletes. In either case,

this result is consistent with the literature which proposes the optimal A:C range of 0.9-1.3. Additional research on consistent progressive overload, tapering, cross country A:C ranges, and peak performances in post-season races is certainly warranted given these results.

Another glimpse into the concept of tapering can be seen in Figure 3. The line graph depicts time for each race of the season for each athlete, and the bar shows CL for the preceding week from Sunday-Friday. When considering each athlete's best and worst races, one notable pattern emerges: lower CL does not equate to faster race times. In fact, in many cases too low CL appears to be related to the poor race performances. Subjects 4, 5, 6, 9, and 12 all ran their slowest times after weeks with their lowest respective CLs. This is counterintuitive because one would assume that lowering training intensity would increase feelings of freshness and thus improve race times. However, it appears that reducing training intensity prior to races has an association with slower times. Conversely, an athlete's highest CL never preceded their slowest race except for one outlying instance with Subject 2 on September 11th. There are several possible explanations for this trend. Perhaps athletes perform best in an established routine, and altering training breaks their natural rhythm. Anecdotally, some coaches preach the idea of "priming the legs" by still running a relatively hard workout or fast strides the week of a race in order to avoid staleness. Future studies may seek to establish a more concrete correlation or physiological basis for "priming" and performance.

Although existing research on the topic is limited, a growing body of evidence supports the idea of limiting tapering. One article examining the tapering technique in elite weightlifters found that volatility in training load (measured by Session RPE or sRPE) prior to competition has a significant association with decreased performance. Rather, these authors recommend maintaining a relatively constant internal load especially in the 21 days leading up to an event rather than tapering (18). Several other studies suggest similar trends and have found that a consistently high (<.9) A:C is both beneficial for aerobic capacity and protective against injury in a wide variety of populations including distance running, Australian Rules Football, rugby, and soccer (5, 6, 7, 19, 20, 21).

Although there is insufficient data from this study to establish a causal relationship and there exists the threat of overall fatigue as a confounding variable forcing athletes to reduce training and race slower, this trend suggests the need for additional research. If a true correlation can be found between low pre-meet CL in endurance athletes and slower race times, it would suggest that "over-tapering," or reducing CL too sharply prior to a race may have negative outcomes for that competition. Additionally, the previously discussed A:C data indicates that tapering too often and consistently lowering A:Cs may diminish overall fitness gains throughout the season as a whole.

Practical Application

Cardio load data and the derived A:Cs indicate that this team during the 2022-23 season had decreasing intensity throughout the year. Additionally, the 3 athletes with the highest A:Cs had the best performances at the end of the season for the NCAA Regional Championship. The immediate application is that coaches should consider targeting higher A:Cs for athletes throughout the season. Daily cardio loads could be monitored and workouts adjusted to keep weekly A:Cs above the recommended 0.9 threshold. Although there were too few instances in this study of athletes above the proposed 1.3 optimal ceiling, presumably HR monitoring systems could also be used to reduce intensity and avoid overtraining when necessary. This may be especially important on race weeks. Results from this study suggest that reducing A:C too much may have negative implications both for the proceeding race as well as the rest of the season if athletes taper too much too often. Rather, they may consider maintaining relatively normal schedules and only slightly reducing intensity only for the most important races.

From a laboratory perspective, early physiological testing such as that conducted in this study could offer a wealth of information for teams especially because the lab provides a consistent environment to monitor changes. Due to the nature of the sport, weather and course conditions may make it impossible to demonstrate improvement in competition even after significant physiological adaptations. Lab testing can provide coaches with data to track development and identify potential for breakthroughs which may not come across in races. Additionally, it provides a unique physiological profile for each athlete. Coaches could compare pre and post season data from year to year to determine which training methods led to the most successful seasons both for the team as a whole and for individual athletes. Over time, a database would be established with the longitudinal data on a variety of runners who went through the cross-country program at this university. One potential application for such information is primary event selection. Specialization in a primary track event is often determined by a process of trial and error and can sometimes take multiple years to find the best event for an athlete. Data from this testing may help identify physiological profiles of athletes in this specific program that find success at certain distances. For example, the high VT athletes in this pilot study were established long-distance runners, and it could be highly beneficial to identify freshman runners with similar characteristics who may find success in the 10k. Training could be adjusted earlier, and runners would not have to waste years of eligibility racing shorter races for which they are not as physiologically suited.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to use HR monitoring to identify instances of overtraining leading to decreased performance capacity in both a competitive and laboratory setting. However, the HR data and calculated A:Cs appear to paint an entirely different picture. The majority of athletes in this study maintained a relatively consistent performance ability throughout the season. On average, there was no significant improvement in times between the first and last race nor in the physiological variables measured in the lab. One possible explanation for the stagnation is consistently low A:Cs. The team as a whole averaged an A:C of 0.88 throughout the season with a downward trend suggesting that intensity decreased as time went on. The only 3 regional qualifying athletes to set season's best times at regionals were also the 3 with the highest A:C at .95, .95 and 1.30. These values fall within the literature recommended range of 0.9-1.3.

From this descriptive pilot study, many avenues of future research can be identified. Tapering, event selection, age and/or experience-based training intensity modification, crosscountry specific A:C ranges, and HRV to performance relationships could all be explored more in depth. Perhaps more immediately useful, however, are the potential direct applications for this specific Division I program. Although this 2022 season was relatively successful, we would typically like to see more improvement from athletes over the course of the competitive year in race times and perhaps in the physiological variables as well. A future research project with a true randomized controlled design could seek to establish HR monitoring and A:C calculations as a viable training tool. Workout paces, number of reps, and recovery day mileage could all be easily adjusted on an individual basis to maintain optimal A:C throughout the season and track whether CL-based training improves performance. This project at the very least suggests the possibility that consistency and optimal A:Cs could be associated with increased performance, and testing of this theory should be a priority.

Table 1 Descriptive Characteris	tics of th	e Cross-Country A	Athletes	
Subject Number	Sex	Weight (kg)	Height (cm)	Age (y
1	F	53	166.4	

Number	Sex	Weight (kg)	Height (cm)	Age (years)	BMI	Primary Event
1	F	53	166.4	22	19.1	Hybrid
2	F	53	157.5	21	21.4	Long Distance
3	F	52	167.6	22	18.5	Long Distance
4	F	56	170.2	22	19.3	Middle Distance
5	F	53	160	19	20.7	Long Distance
6	F	63	175.3	22	20.5	Middle Distance
7	F	60	167.6	19	21.4	Middle Distance
8	F	60	170.2	20	20.7	Long Distance
9	Μ	67	182.9	23	20.0	Middle Distance
10	М	70	196.8	21	18.1	Hybrid
11	Μ	67	177.8	21	21.2	Middle Distance
12	Μ	61	165.1	21	22.4	Long Distance

Vov Average	37.0 940.8	57.0 936.6	00.0 916.0	0.0 636.5	02.0 798.7	12.0 811.9	24.0 773.1	27.0 393.0	87.0 612.5	05.1 757.7
30- 6-l Oct	791.0 2	774.0 7	556.0 9	299.0	572.0 8	624.0 2	227.0 4	146.0	583.0 11	508.0 5
23- Oct	886.0	828.0	719.0	649.0	645.0	559.0	566.0	399.0	588.0	648.8
16-Oct	1084.0	998.0	942.0	683.3	545.0	836.0	842.4	490.3	700.0	791.2
9-Oct	1204.0	947.0	963.0	778.0	892.0	892.0	969.0	96.0	417.0	795.3
2-Oct	834.0	942.0	920.0	1170.3	577.0	933.0	546.0	255.0	795.0	774.7
25- Sep	1124.0	1069.0	1181.0	810.6	934.0	804.0	939.0	592.0	594.0	894.2
18- Sep	655.0	805.0	790.0	693.3	892.0	972.1	975.0	781.0	329.0	765.8
11- Sep	1304.0	1252.0	1360.0	850.3	1157.0	1155.1	1057.0	727.0	295.0	1017.5
4-Sep	1032.0	1080.0	950.0	437.9	757.0	1064.0	1040.0	265.0	789.0	823.9
28- Aug	1198.0	851.0	795.4	630.0	1012.3	880.0	919.0	545.2	460.0	810.1
Weekly Can Subject Number	2	ŝ	4	5	9	7	9	11	12	Average

Table 3	
Previous 4 Weeks Average Cardio Load Throughout Season measured in AU's	
Week Starting	

	on Sunday							
Subject Number	25-Sep	2-	9-	16-	23-	30-	6-	Average
		Oct	Oct	Oct	Oct	Oct	Nov	
2	1047	1029	979	954	1062	1002	991	1009
3	997	1052	1017	964	1013	976	934	993
4	974	1100	1092	993	1031	915	824	990
5	653	698	881	863	861	848	630	776
6	955	935	890	844	757	704	703	827
7	1018	1029	996	930	896	805	728	915
9	998	1003	879	857	824	731	651	849
11	580	591	589	431	358	310	283	449
12	468	521	522	553	646	644	591	564
Average	854	884	872	821	827	771	704	819

Week Starting on Sunday	2	3	4	5	6	7	9	11	12	Average
25-Sep	1.07	1.07	1.33	1.24	0.98	0.91	0.94	1.02	1.43	1.11
2-Oct	0.81	0.90	0.84	1.68	0.62	0.91	0.54	0.43	1.53	0.92
9-Oct	1.23	1.02	0.88	0.88	1.09	0.90	1.10	0.16	0.80	0.90
16-Oct	1.14	1.03	0.95	0.79	0.65	0.90	0.98	1.14	1.27	0.98
23-Oct	0.83	0.91	0.81	0.88	0.96	0.62	0.69	1.11	1.03	0.87
30-Oct	0.79	0.79	0.61	0.35	0.81	0.78	0.31	0.47	0.91	0.65
6-Nov	0.24	0.91	1.23	0.00	1.25	0.29	0.65	0.10	2.14	0.76
Average	0.87	0.95	0.95	0.83	0.91	0.76	0.75	0.63	1.30	0.88

Table 4 Acute to Chronic Ratios Throughout the Season Subject Number
Table 5Race Results of Participating Athletes by Week and SexRace DateTime (minutes)Place on Team

Race Date	Time (minutes)	Place on Team	Percentile
16-Sep	22.89	4.75	59.38
F	22.89	4.75	59.38
2	24.04	8.00	100.00
3	21.87	1.00	12.50
6	22.39	4.00	50.00
7	23.24	6.00	75.00
30-Sep	23.26	5.43	59.80
F	22.53	5.80	58.00
2	23.25	9.00	90.00
3	21.40	1.00	10.00
4	21.97	4.00	40.00
6	22.11	5.00	50.00
7	23.91	10.00	100.00
Μ	25.09	4.50	64.29
9	25.21	6.00	85.71
12	24.97	3.00	42.86
14-Oct	22.95	5.25	40.38
F	22.33	5.33	41.03
2	22.93	9.00	69.23
3	21.29	1.00	7.69
4	22.41	5.00	38.46
5	22.46	6.00	46.15
6	22.12	3.00	23.08
7	22.78	8.00	61.54
Μ	24.80	5.00	38.46
9	24.96	6.00	46.15
12	24.63	4.00	30.77
28-Oct	23.77	5.17	64.58
F	22.62	4.75	59.38
3	22.12	3.00	37.50
4	22.05	2.00	25.00
5	23.20	8.00	100.00
6	23.12	6.00	75.00
M	26.07	6.00	75.00
9	27.00	8.00	100.00
12	25.13	4.00	50.00
11-Nov	22.38	2.50	35.71
F	21.68	3.00	42.86
3	21.04	1.00	14.29
4	21.70	2.00	28.57
6	22.29	6.00	85./1
IVI 40	24.50	1.00	14.29
12	24.50	1.00	14.29

Subject Number	Sex	Stage 1 Economy (mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Stage 1 (%VO2 Max)	Stage 2 Economy (mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Stage 2 (%VO2 Max)	Stage 3 Economy (mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Stage 3 (%VO2 Max)	VO2 Max (mL.kg- 1.min-	Duration (s)	VT (mL.kg- 1.min- 1)	VT/V02 (%V02 Max)
1	ш	34.0	70.2	38.7	80.0	42.9	88.6	48.4	200.0	38.5	79.5
2	щ	40.4	78.1	45.3	87.6	49.0	94.8	51.7	160.0	48.6	94.0
ß	ш	37.1	68.5	41.3	76.1	46.8	86.3	54.2	260.0	43.3	79.9
4	щ	31.7	62.1	43.8	85.8	47.5	93.1	51.0	240.0	38.9	76.3
5	щ	46.0	79.2	50.1	86.2	55.9	96.2	58.1	140.0	45.2	77.8
9	ш	38.6	71.3	42.7	79.0	46.9	86.6	54.1	300.0	41.8	77.3
7	ш	43.8	74.3	48.6	82.3	52.2	88.4	59.0	240.0	49.3	83.6
F Average		38.8	71.9	44.3	82.4	48.7	90.6	53.8	220.0	43.7	81.2
6	Σ	35.6	59.8	40.3	67.8	48.0	80.6	59.5	240.0	47.8	80.3
10	Σ	46.1	71.0	52.4	80.8	59.0	91.0	64.9	240.0	51.9	80.0
11	Σ	50.6	74.9	56.5	83.7	62.1	92.0	67.5	180.0	50.5	74.8
12	Σ	48.2	65.6	53.7	73.2	60.8	82.8	73.4	300.0	66.7	90.9
M Average		45.1	67.8	50.7	76.4	57.5	86.6	66.3	240.0	54.2	81.5
Overall Avera	ge	41.1	70.4	46.7	80.2	51.9	89.1	58.3	227.3	47.5	81.3

Subject Number	Sex	Stage 1 Economy	Stage 1 (%VO2	Stage 2 Economy	Stage 2 (%VO2	Stage 3 Economy	Stage 3 (%VO2	VO2 Max	Duration (s)	VT (mL.kg-	VT/V02 (%V02
		(mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Max)	(mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Max)	(mL.kg- 1.min-1)	Max)	(mL.kg- 1.min- 1)		1.min- 1)	Max)
1	ш	38.7	74.8	43.0	83.0	46.2	89.2	51.8	240.0	45.6	88.0
2	щ	39.3	72.3	44.2	81.3	48.7	89.6	54.3	240.0	47.1	86.7
æ	ш	38.1	70.4	44.6	82.4	49.0	90.6	54.1	220.0	45.0	83.2
4	ш	41.9	83.4	44.9	89.3	47.9	95.2	50.3	180.0	41.8	83.1
ы	ш	44.2	78.4	45.4	80.6	51.1	90.8	56.3	140.0	53.0	94.1
9	ш	37.6	70.3	42.4	79.3	46.4	86.7	53.5	320.0	38.7	72.3
7	ш	42.1	74.4	45.9	81.0	50.3	88.9	56.6	280.0	50.8	89.8
F Average		40.3	74.9	44.3	82.4	48.5	90.1	53.8	231.4	46.0	85.3
6	Σ	47.0	71.5	51.7	78.7	56.8	86.5	65.7	240.0	55.7	84.8
10	Σ	45.0	70.5	50.4	79.0	57.2	89.7	63.8	240.0	45.4	71.2
11	Σ	51.9	74.1	55.6	79.3	62.3	88.8	70.1	300.0	62.2	88.7
12	Σ	46.7	66.1	50.9	72.1	58.9	83.5	70.6	320.0	68.0	96.3
M Average		47.6	70.6	52.2	77.3	58.8	87.1	67.6	275.0	57.8	85.2
Overall Averag	ge	43.0	73.3	47.2	80.6	52.3	89.0	58.8	247.3	50.3	85.3

	Testing Results
	ı Physiological
Table 7	Postseason

Table 8 Percent Change in Key Physiological Variables Between Preseason and Postseason Physiological Testing

		VT/V02 (%V02	Max)	10.7	-7.7	4.1	9.0	21.0	-6.4	7.4	5.1	5.5	-11.0	18.6	6.0	4.6	4.9
	۲	(mL.kg- 1.min-	1)	18.4	-3.1	3.9	7.5	17.3	-7.4	3.0	5.7	16.5	-12.5	23.2	1.9	7.3	6.2
		Duration	(s)	20.0	50.0	-15.4	-25.0	0.0	6.7	16.7	7.6	0.0	0.0	66.7	6.7	18.3	11.5
V02	Max	(mL.kg- 1.min-	1)	7.0	5.0	-0.2	-1.4	-3.1	-1.1	-4.1	0.3	10.4	-1.7	3.9	-3.8	2.2	1.0
		Stage 3 (%VO2	Max)	0.6	-5.5	5.0	2.2	-5.6	0.1	0.6	-0.4	7.2	-1.4	-3.5	0.8	0.8	0.1
	Stage 3	Economy (mL.kg-	1.min-1)	7.7	-0.7	4.8	0.8	-8.5	-1.0	-3.5	-0.1	18.4	-3.0	0.3	-3.1	3.1	1.1
		Stage 2 (%VO2	Max)	3.7	-7.2	8.3	4.1	-6.5	0.4	-1.6	0.2	16.2	-2.2	-5.3	-1.5	1.8	0.8
	Stage 2	Economy (mL.kg-	1.min-1)	11.0	-2.5	8.1	2.7	-9.4	-0.7	-5.6	0.5	28.3	-3.8	-1.7	-5.2	4.4	1.9
		Stage 1 (%VO2	Max)	6.5	-7.4	2.7	34.3	-0.9	-1.4	0.2	4.9	19.7	-0.7	-1.1	0.7	4.6	4.8
	Stage 1	Economy (mL.kg-	1.min-1)	14.0	-2.7	2.5	32.5	-4.0	-2.5	-3.9	5.1	32.1	-2.4	2.7	-3.1	7.3	5.9
			Sex	ш	ш	ш	ш	ц	ш	F		Σ	Σ	Σ	Σ		e
			Name	1	2	C	4	5	9	7	F Average	6	10	11	12	M Average	Overall Averag

^{*}Beneficial physiological adaptations in green; negative changes in red

	ariables Between Preseason and Postseason Physiological Testing
	hysiological Variables Between Preseason a
Table 9	Absolute Change in Key Phy

	VT/VO2 (%VO2 Max)	8.5	-7.3	3.3	6.8	16.3	-4.9	6.2	4.1	4.4	-8.8	13.9	5.4	3.7	4.0	
ļ	VT (mL.kg- 1.min-	7.1	-1.5	1.7	2.9	7.8	-3.1	1.5	2.3	7.9	-6.5	11.7	1.3	3.6	2.8	
	Duration (s)	40.0	80.0	-40.0	-60.0	0.0	20.0	40.0	11.4	0.0	0.0	120.0	20.0	35.0	20.0	
V02	Max (mL.kg- 1.min-	3.4	2.6	-0.1	-0.7	-1.8	-0.6	-2.4	0.1	6.2	-1.1	2.6	-2.8	1.2	0.5	
	Stage 3 (%VO2 Max)	0.6	-5.2	4.3	2.1	-5.4	0.1	0.5	-0.4	5.8	-1.3	-3.2	0.6	0.5	-0.1	
i	Stage 3 Economy (mL.kg- 1 min-1)	3.3	-0.4	2.2	0.4	-4.8	-0.5	-1.8	-0.2	8.8	-1.8	0.2	-1.9	1.3	0.3	
	Stage 2 (%VO2 Max)	3.0	-6.3	6.3	3.5	-5.6	0.3	-1.3	0.0	11.0	-1.7	-4.4	-1.1	0.9	0.3	
, ,	Stage 2 Economy (mL.kg- 1 min-1)	4.3	-1.1	3.3	1.2	-4.7	-0.3	-2.7	0.0	11.4	-2.0	6.0-	-2.8	1.4	0.5	
	Stage 1 (%VO2 Max)	4.6	-5.8	1.9	21.3	-0.7	-1.0	0.1	2.9	11.8	-0.5	-0.8	0.5	2.7	2.8	
	Stage 1 Economy (mL.kg- 1 min-1)	4.8	-1.1	0.9	10.3	-1.8	-1.0	-1.7	1.5	11.4	-1.1	1.4	-1.5	2.6	1.9	
	Sex	ш	ш	ш	щ	щ	ш	ш		Μ	Σ	Σ	Σ		e	
	e	1	2	c	4	ß	9	7	F Average	6	10	11	12	M Average	Overall Avera	

^{*}Beneficial physiological adaptations in green; negative changes in red



Figure 1A. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 2



Figure 1B. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 3



Figure 1C. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 4



Figure 1D. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 5



Figure 1E. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 6



Figure 1F. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 7



Figure 1G. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 9



Figure 1H. Race Data Throughout the Season for Subject 12







Figure 3A. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 2



Figure 3B. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 3



Figure 3C. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 4



Figure 3D. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 5



Figure 3E. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 6





Type text here



Figure 3G. Race Time vs. Preceding Week Cardio Load Throughout the Season for Subject 9





REFERENCES

- Meeusen, R., Duclos, M., Gleeson, M., Rietjens, G., Steinacker., J & Urhausen,
 A. (2006) Prevention, diagnosis and treatment of the Overtraining Syndrome, *European Journal of Sport Science*, 6:1, 1-14, DOI: 10.1080/17461390600617717
- Borresen, J., & Lambert, M. I. (2009). The quantification of training load, the training response and the effect on performance. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 39(9), 779– 795. https://doi.org/10.2165/11317780-000000000-00000
- Bowen L, Gross AS, Gimpel M, et al. (2020). Spikes in acute:chronic workload ratio (ACWR) associated with a 5–7 times greater injury rate in English Premier League football players: a comprehensive 3-year study. British Journal of Sports Medicine 2020;54:731-738.
- Dijkhuis, T. B., Otter, R., Aiello, M., Velthuijsen, H., & Lemmink, K. (2020). Increase in the Acute:Chronic Workload Ratio relates to Injury Risk in Competitive Runners. *International journal of sports medicine*, *41*(11), 736–743. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1171-2331
- Harrison, P. W., & Johnston, R. D. (2017). Relationship Between Training Load, Fitness, and Injury Over an Australian Rules Football Preseason. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *31*(10), 2686–2693.

https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000001829

 Hulin, B. T., Gabbett, T. J., Lawson, D. W., Caputi, P., & Sampson, J. A. (2016). The acute:chronic workload ratio predicts injury: high chronic workload may decrease injury risk in elite rugby league players. *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*(4), 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-094817

- Johnston, R., Cahalan, R., Bonnett, L., Maguire, M., Nevill, A., Glasgow, P., O'Sullivan, K., & Comyns, T. (2019). Training Load and Baseline Characteristics Associated With New Injury/Pain Within an Endurance Sporting Population: A Prospective Study. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, *14*(5), 590–597. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijspp.2018-0644
- Maupin D, Schram B, Canetti E, Orr R. (2020). The Relationship Between Acute: Chronic Workload Ratios and Injury Risk in Sports: A Systematic Review. Open Access J Sports Med. 2020 Feb 24;11:51-75. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S231405. PMID: 32158285; PMCID: PMC7047972.
- Joyner, M.J. and Coyle, E.F. (2008), Endurance exercise performance: the physiology of champions. *The Journal of Physiology*, 586: 35-44. https://doi.org/10.1113/jphysiol.2007.143834
- Costill D. L. (1970). Metabolic responses during distance running. *Journal of applied physiology*, 28(3), 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1970.28.3.251
- 11. Pollock, M.L. (1977), SUBMAXIMAL AND MAXIMAL WORKING CAPACITY OF ELITE DISTANCE RUNNERS. PART I: CARDIORESPIRATORY ASPECTS. *Annals* of the New York Academy of Sciences, 301: 310-322. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1977.tb38209.x
- Pate, R. R., Sparling, P. B., Wilson, G. E., Cureton, K. J., & Miller, B. J. (1987).
 Cardiorespiratory and metabolic responses to submaximal and maximal exercise in elite women distance runners. *International journal of sports medicine*, 8 Suppl 2, 91–95. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-2008-1025712

- Conley, D. L., & Krahenbuhl, G. S. (1980). Running economy and distance running performance of highly trained athletes. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 12(5), 357–360.
- 14. Farrell, P. A., Wilmore, J. H., Coyle, E. F., Billing, J. E., & Costill, D. L. (1993). Plasma lactate accumulation and distance running performance. 1979. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 25(10), 1091–1090. https://doi.org/10.1249/00005768-199310000-00002
- Robergs, R. A., Ghiasvand, F., & Parker, D. (2004). Biochemistry of exercise-induced metabolic acidosis. *American journal of physiology. Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology*, 287(3), R502–R516. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00114.2004
- Ghosh AK. (2004). Anaerobic threshold: its concept and role in endurance sport. Malays J Med Sci. 2004 Jan;11(1):24-36. PMID: 22977357; PMCID: PMC3438148.
- 17. Caiozzo, V. J., Davis, J. A., Ellis, J. F., Azus, J. L., Vandagriff, R., Prietto, C. A., & McMaster, W. C. (1982). A comparison of gas exchange indices used to detect the anaerobic threshold. *Journal of applied physiology: respiratory, environmental and exercise physiology*, 53(5), 1184–1189. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1982.53.5.1184
- Coyne, Joseph O. C., Newton, Robert U., & Haff, G. Gregory (2021). Relationships Between Internal Training Load in a Taper With Elite Weightlifting Performance Calculated Using Different Moving Average Methods. *International Journal of Sports Physiology & Performance* Mar2021, Vol. 16 Issue 3, p342 20p.

- Gabbett T. J. (2016). The training-injury prevention paradox: should athletes be training smarter and harder?. *British journal of sports medicine*, 50(5), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095788
- 20. Malone, S., Owen, A., Newton, M., Mendes, B., Collins, K. D., & Gabbett, T. J. (2017). The acute:chonic workload ratio in relation to injury risk in professional soccer. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, 20(6), 561–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2016.10.014
- Nakaoka, G., Barboza, S.D., Verhagen, E. *et al.* (2021). The Association Between the Acute:Chronic Workload Ratio and Running-Related Injuries in Dutch Runners: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Sports Med* 51, 2437–2447. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01483-0

CHAPTER II: EXTENDED LITERATURE REVIEW.

Internal Workload and Heart Rate Monitoring

The world of sports performance has experienced a revolution in recent decades as wearable monitoring technology has become more readily available. Whether recreational or elite, nearly all endurance athletes own one of the numerous forms of wrist or chest-based GPS or heart rate (HR) monitoring systems to gather workout data and ultimately improve performance. Although the exact metric differs by brand, all popular running technology companies provide feedback about duration and intensity in an attempt to describe workload for a given session. Many companies use an external workload which primarily considers total distance covered to summarize effort. However, one of the leading HR-monitoring companies, Polar Elctro (Kempele, Finland), calculates *internal* workload with a variable known as Cardio Load (CL). CL utilizes a proprietary algorithm which weights time spent in each HR zone to output a single number summarizing workout intensity each day. Because HR zones are based off of measured maximum HR, this internal workload method is highly individualized and has become one of the most popular techniques for assessing workload.

CL is especially important in endurance activities because progress in the sport hinges on maintaining an optimal work-rest balance. The principle of progressive overload dictates that load must be continually increased to experience improvement. However, too much intensity can lead to overtraining syndrome, which impairs performance (1). Research has shown that measures of internal workload, and CL in particular, provide important feedback to quantify intensity, improve performance, and reduce injury (2).

A 2017 study monitored the training load of 60 Australian Rules Football players (21.3 ± 2.9 years) throughout a 14-week preseason period (3). Although ARF is technically a skill-based

sport, players typically cover between 12 and 15 kilometers over the course of a 2-hour game (4). Given the intense running requirement inherent in the sport, it is reasonable to consider ARF athletes under the endurance umbrella. Researchers calculated internal load with a metric known as session rating of perceived exertion (sRPE) which quantifies workload by multiplying a Foster's RPE value by the session duration in minutes. Although HR is not directly measured in this method, the RPE scale is based on HR data and literature has shown sRPE to be a reliable measure of internal load when compared to both CL and external load metrics (5). Researchers found significant associations between training load and aerobic fitness as measured by the results of a 2-kilometer time trial contested at 4 time points throughout the season. Time trial ability among the participants improved by $4.10 \pm 2.20\%$ over the course of the study, and the most significant improvements in aerobic capacity were associated with players whose training load averaged between 1,600 and 2,000 arbitrary units (AU) per week (effect size [ES] = 0.47-1.01). Training loads below 1600 AU seemingly were not high enough intensity to elicit desirable physiological adaptations, and training loads in excess of 2000 AU may have verged into overreaching and attenuated potential fitness gains (3). The results of this study reinforce the importance of maintaining an appropriate training stress balance and lend credibility to measurements of internal load.

Given the specific demands of AFR, it is unlikely that this range of 1600-2000 AU is a universal "sweet spot" for all athletes. Rather, there is likely a large individual and sport-specific variance. Another popular internal load metric gaining research traction is acute to chronic workload ratio (A:C). This value, derived from internal workload, divides the acute workload from the current week by the chronic load over the previous 4 weeks to measure the individual intensity of an athlete's sessions relative to their typical load (2). A study of Division I track and field sprinters from Florida State also found performance correlations with training load using A:C calculated from sRPE data on 7 elite sprinters during the 2018 outdoor season. Researchers found positive but non-significant correlations between average A:C and season best 200-meter sprint time (r = 0.765; P = 0.235) (6). The lack of significance is largely attributable to the small sample size, but the trend once again implies the potential impact of internal load monitoring.

In addition to the observed performance implications, sub-optimal training loads and A:Cs also have important injury implications. High loads and A:Cs can be predictive of overreaching and overtraining which leaves an athlete more susceptible to many types of injuries, but particularly overuse injuries. Following a 2014 study examining data from the NCAA Injury Surveillance Program found that an average of 12,612 track injuries occur each year across member schools in the NCAA (7). Overuse injuries are of particular concern because, according to recent NCAA data collected via a nationwide sample, runners suffered injuries at an alarming rate of 3.99 injuries per 1,000 athletic exposures. Among distance runners, 52.1% of all injuries sustained were classified as overuse and primarily affected the lower leg and foot/ankle region (8).

In recent years, numerous researchers have sought to better understand the connection between injury risk and A:C in sport. A 2020 systematic review analyzed 27 such studies including both internal and external A:Cs and found a trend toward an optimal ratio range of 0.80-1.30 for injury prevention (2).

A running-specific study from Amsterdam wanted to go a step further and model injury risk across A:C values in long-distance joggers. Researchers performed a prospective cohort study on a group of 435 recreational runners and collected data on external A:C measured by weekly distance and incidences of running-related injures (RRI) over an 18–65-week period. They found that runners with an average A:C of >0.7 had a predicted probability of 9.6% (95% CrI: 7.5-12.4%) predicted probability of sustaining an RRI compared to 1.3 % (95% CrI: 07-1.7%) for runners with an A:C > 1.38. Modeling this relationship revealed an inversely proportional L-shaped curve which largely agrees with previous literature (9). The primary discrepancy, however, is that there was no upper threshold of A:C for which RRI risk increased. Many previous studies have suggested a ceiling of 1.3 above which performance is attenuated and injury risk spikes. The most likely explanation for this disagreement is that the Dutch study included only recreational runners, few of whom ever reached above an A:C of 1.3 and likely had a much lower absolute internal workload during these periods (9).

Physiological Testing

One of the primary challenges in this study was identifying an exercise test that accurately assessed VO2 max, ventilatory threshold (VT), and running economy (RE) for both men and women. The following section provides additional context for these physiological variables and outlines the selection and subsequent justification for the testing protocol.

Maximal oxygen uptake (VO2 max) is a measure of the body's ability to take in and utilize oxygen, and it is often measured using a metabolic gas analyzer and an ergometer. When intensity is increased on the ergometer without a subsequent increase in VO2, a plateau is said to have been reached indicating that the subject has achieved maximal oxygen consumption. Ever since this concept of VO2 max was introduced by AV Hill in 1923, maximal oxygen uptake has been the primary measure of aerobic fitness in the body. Despite the groundbreaking nature of his work, Hill's research also established a dangerous precedent that has been a common in current research: he only recruited male subjects (10). In the century since Hill's foundational paper, numerous researchers have established more specific protocols to elicit a true measure of the body's maximal capacity to utilize oxygen. Unfortunately, many such protocols were also developed using exclusively male data (11).

Women, especially endurance trained women, have many physiological differences which may impact outcomes of a VO2 test. Body size, lung capacity, hematocrit levels, fatigue indices, and normalization of VO2 to body weight have all been thoroughly studied and found to vary significantly between male and female runners (12). Biomechanical differences are also present. Some research has shown that sex-specific female anatomical differences, including a wider pelvis and smaller lower limb to total height ratio, tend to cause different neuromuscular activation patterns specifically at the gluteus maximus and vastus lateralis which may influence running economy (13). Other studies have found only marginal differences in activation patterns and no significant sex-specific differences in sagittal plane motion (14 & 15). These discrepancies in literature can likely be attributed to the prescribed pace, ability of the athletes, and incline of the treadmill on which they were tested, but an in-depth analysis of existing research is needed to clarify sex disparities in biomechanical running patterns.

This portion of the review will explore the current literature and topics surrounding VO2 max testing and optimal protocol selection specifically for elite female and male endurance athletes. First, barriers to female participation in sport and exercise research will be analyzed to place the issue within a cultural and historical context as well as to highlight the need for additional studies. By including foundational VO2 max studies as well as high quality randomized controlled or crossover design trials this review will then present an overview of the development of the most popular VO2 max protocols. Next, it will more thoroughly discuss the key physiological and biomechanical differences between sexes during running which necessitate testing considerations for female athletes specifically. Given the nature of the

question, randomized trials are not feasible, so the evidence in this section will come from descriptive studies with a level V level of evidence. Finally, after synthesizing the established literature, this review will make suggestions regarding current VO2 testing protocols and identify avenues for future research. The main purpose of this study is to evaluate the reliability of established VO2 max testing protocols for female endurance athletes and identify an optimal method for both accuracy and feasibility that will be utilized in the current study.

Sufficient research on endurance trained women is difficult to locate. To begin with, female participation in long-distance running events was historically non-existent. In fact, the first women's marathon in the Olympics was not contested until 1984 due to a purported physiological inability to safely compete over extended distances (16). Since that time, females have shown remarkable improvement in endurance events, evidenced by the rapid progression of world record times post-1984 relative to men. So pronounced was the improvement, that certain popular lines of research predicted women to outpace men in ultra-marathon distances should it persist (17). Although record-setting paces have since plateaued, overall participation rates have continued to improve. According to a global survey encompassing millions of road racing results from 1986 to 2018, female participation in road races worldwide has eclipsed that of males over the past five years (18).

Despite an increase in women's sports participation, female athletes are still severely underrepresented in scientific research. In fact, a comprehensive 2014 probe into three prominent exercise and sport medicine journals revealed that, on average, only thirty-five of every 100 research participants over the preceding three years were female (19). While there is evidence of this sex disparity on a widespread clinical scale, it is certainly exacerbated within the world of exercise and sport medicine (20). Far too many studies fail to recruit an appropriate number of female participants due to a combination of volunteer bias as well as investigator bias. In either case, an underlying discrimination against women in sports likely influences the lack of involvement (21). More intentional recruitment effort from researchers will help to accurately categorize physiological differences between the sexes be properly understood.

Despite these challenges, many VO2 max protocols have been established and are widely used amongst female participants of all levels. According to a position statement from the American Heart Association, the Bruce protocol is the most widely used procedure for all genders at all levels (22). The Bruce protocol is a graded exercise test to volitional exhaustion consisting of successive 3-minute stages beginning at a walk on a gentle incline and progressing to a jog at steep inclines up to more than 20% in the later stages (23). Gaining traction throughout the 1950s with exclusively male subjects, the Bruce protocol was eventually validated for women in the 2000s, but only from a health and wellness or recreational standpoint. Because it consists primarily of walking stages with increasing incline, this modality suffices for a general population but may not be effective for athletes.

The goal of exercise testing should be to simulate a race environment as closely as possible, and recent studies have begun to ask whether the severe inclination achieved by elite athletes who endure to the later stages of the Bruce protocol is comparable to training situations. The idea of mirroring testing protocol to real-world activities is referred to as the specificity principle, and it is reinforced by recent research comparing running to cycling. Eleven highly trained distance runners and eleven elite cyclists completed maximal VO2 tests on both cycle and treadmill ergometers using a randomized crossover design. The runners achieved a 7% higher VO2peak on average on the treadmill compared to the cycle, but the cyclists experienced the opposite result with an 8% lower measured VO2 on the treadmill (24). This research

confirms the importance of the specificity principle and implies that familiarity with the exercise mode, perhaps in combination with neuromuscular patterning and capillarization, has a substantial impact on measured VO2 max. As such, care must be taken to subject participants to a protocol that is comparable to the training that they regularly perform. Because distance running is predominantly performed on a level surface, it has been suggested that the extreme slope of the Bruce protocol is sufficiently different from flat running that it can nearly be considered an entirely different mode and should be avoided for elite athletes.

In addition to the Bruce protocol, there are numerous other VO2 measurement procedures which each carry a large body of supporting research. Although there are some interesting avenues of investigation, many studies suffer from the same limitations as the Bruce protocol, and it is beyond the scope of this review to address them all individually. Rather, procedures will be examined as a whole. The current stance on VO2 testing is that protocol does not make a statistically significant difference on maximal oxygen uptake. This position comes largely from a foundational 1976 paper by Pollock et. al. in which fifty-one volunteers were tested on four different popular treadmill protocols using a randomized crossover design (25). The protocols selected included the Bruce, Balke, Ellestad, and Astrand, which subjected participants to incremental increases in either speed, grade, or both, and no significant differences were found in VO2 max between any procedure (25). However, accuracy of VO2 measurement has increased significantly in the past fifty years, and, once again, the study included no female participants. Several other studies have since revisited this research on optimal VO2 protocol searching specifically for ideal stage and total test durations. Buchfurer found that VO2 values and incidence of plateau were greatest in tests lasting between 8 and 12 minutes, but he also failed to include any female participants (26). Not until 2007, was an adequate protocol validation study

conducted on both sexes, but even then, no elite women were represented limiting the applicability to trained athletes (27). The most recent review, a meta-analysis published in 2016, acknowledged the lack of female participants and concluded that women, especially trained women, showed no decrease in VO2 max regardless of the length of the incremental stages or the total test duration after pooling results from previous research (28). Given this conclusion, elite endurance trained women are able to achieve a true max result in tests beyond the traditional 12-minute duration. This may be preferred for many athletes to minimize the jump in intensity between consecutive stages in an incremental test.

In order to determine an appropriate protocol for female athletes, it is important to consider the physiological differences between men and women. To begin with females in general tend to have a smaller body size which impacts the size of the heart and lungs. However, a large-scale descriptive study found that women have smaller lungs and airways even when compared to age and size matched men (29). Lower lung volume combined with greater resistive forces from narrower airways limits female minute ventilation which is a key determinant of VO2 max. Similarly, cardiac size, which is already reduced by tinier frames, is also smaller for females even after normalizing for lean body mass between sexes (30). Although endurance training results in significant hypertrophy in the left ventricle wall in both sexes, a cohort study of competitive British athletes found markedly lower ventricular thickness in females, who peaked at 11mm compared to males who peaked at 14mm as measured by echocardiography (31). Smaller heart size inhibits cardiac output which once again limits VO2 max for females compared to males. Given these limitations, optimal VO2 protocols in mixed-sex studies should consider adjusting the pace of the protocol according to the sex of the participant. By adjusting

the absolute workload in this way, relative intensity remains the same for both sexes and should result in a test of approximately equal duration for participants of the same ability level.

Running biomechanics present another important difference between males and females. Research has shown that female runners tend to have minor anatomical differences such as a wider pelvis structure, but it is unclear how these anatomical differences impact running kinematics (32). One observational study examined 34 healthy endurance trained volunteers during walking and running trials at various speeds with inclinations of 0, 10, and 15%. Females consistently presented an elevated peak internal hip rotation, hip adduction, and level of gluteus maximus activation under all conditions. Additionally, electromyography readings at the sites of the gluteus medius and vastus lateralis showed significant discrepancy in activation patterns between genders. Females tend to have a greater relative gluteus maximus activation while running, and, more importantly, the rate of increase in vastus lateralis activity in response to increasing treadmill incline is significantly higher in women (13). Perhaps due to the previously identified wider pelvic anatomy, female runners must employ different neuromuscular pathways than males to achieve the same task (33). The hip rotation and adduction suggest excessive nonsagittal plane motion compared to men which could impact efficiency at the same relative intensity. Further, as the grade becomes steeper, women rely more heavily on the vastus lateralis and quadriceps in general than do men. Because maximal VO2 values are partially dependent on muscle size, disproportionately high quadriceps usage may skew results for females under inclined conditions (10). Thus, VO2 treadmill protocols that include an exaggerated graded component may elicit different responses between sexes. This result is consistent with the research arguing against the incline achieved in the traditional Bruce protocol. Given the current state of the literature, VO2 testing recommendations should consider limiting the graded
component to below 10-15% in mixed-sex studies to minimize potential sex-specific kinematic changes which could impact VO2 outcomes.

The interconnected nature of running biomechanics introduces the possibility that these differences at the hip may manifest at the knee and ankle joints as well. A 2014 study by Phinyomark et. al. examined 483 endurance runners ranging from recreational to nationally competitive for kinematic sex differences at all joints of the lower extremity. In addition to the previously identified hip modifications, researchers found that females also tended to have slightly lower peak knee flexion angles at preferred running speed than males (34). Lower knee flexion implies a lower potential drive during swing phase and, ultimately, less power generation. However, this result contradicts previous studies from both Sinclair et. al. and Ferber et. al. which found no change in sagittal plane motion at any joint in a similar study. (14 & 15). Most likely, the conflicting results are due to the discrepancies in running speed. The large scale Phinyomark study allowed for preferred speeds between 8 and 12 kilometers per hour whereas the preceding research imposed speeds of 13 and 14.4 kilometers per hour in the Sinclair and Ferber studies respectively. It is impossible to draw definitive conclusions, but these results imply that female runners may moderate knee flexion at slower speeds and only increase flexion as needed to meet the sagittal motion demands of higher speeds. This mechanism may enhance overall efficiency for female athletes running at submaximal speeds and ultimately delay fatigability (33).

Biomechanical and neuromuscular efficiency, in this context, contribute significantly to overall running economy. RE is a measure of the oxygen cost of running at a given pace. A relatively large body of research exists supporting this theory of superior running economy in female athletes. Helgeud et. al. tested nine male and six female near-elite distance runners for efficiency as measured by oxygen cost of running at various percentages of a previously measured VO2 max for each individual. Researchers found that females runners had significantly lower oxygen cost of running at all relative intensities than did the males (35). It should be noted that many running economy studies, especially in elite female athletes such as Helgeud et. al., have access to only very limited subject pools. As such, there are many contradictory results which are unable to determine a significant difference between male and female running economy (33). Additionally, many researchers utilized different speeds, inclines, training statuses, and relative intensities making it impossible to draw definitive conclusions from the existing literature.

Because RE is a product of numerous physiological, metabolic, anatomical, and biomechanical attributes, it is difficult to pin down the exact cause of any potential female efficiency advantages. However, recent research claims that neuromuscular patterning may be the dominant factor. A 2021 study examined activation patterns for thirteen lower limb muscles on sixty male and sixty female endurance runners. Although the timings of the relative activity peaks were consistent between sexes, females demonstrated a narrower synergy window during the weight acceptance phase of the stride (36). This result suggests an overall shorter duration of neuromuscular activation to achieve the same stride as males. A more effective neuromuscular synergy could theoretically reduce fatigability and improve running economy in female endurance athletes. Certainly, more research with more consistent protocols is needed to understand running economy discrepancies between men and women. However, sufficient evidence exists to suggest the possibility of superior efficiency in female runners, and thus, any testing to quantify the endurance ability of female athletes should include a measurement of economy. In conclusion, opportunities in both racing and research have been severely limited for female athletes historically but are constantly improving with intentional effort. Much research is still needed to fully understand the biomechanical and physiological sex-related discrepancies. Specifically, joint kinematics need to be measured using a consistent protocol with male and female athletes of a similar relative ability level in order to better quantify differences in biomechanical efficiencies, especially in the sagittal plane. Additionally, both physiological and biomechanical research with more elite participants is needed to substantiate the claim that female runners have superior running economy. Quantifying this difference could help accurately represent a female athlete's fitness profile compared to that of a male.

Based on the review of existing literature, several recommendations can be made regarding the optimal VO2 protocol for female endurance runners. First, despite the extraordinary progress of female endurance athletes over the past decades, physiological deficiencies relative to males including limited lung and heart capacity suggest the need to adjust the pace of treadmill protocols to achieve the same relative intensity between sexes. Additionally, the grade should not exceed approximately 10% at any point during the test. Not only does such extreme grade increase discomfort, but it is also not realistic for race-day conditions and may suffer from the specificity principle. Further, female vastus lateralis activation patterns are sufficiently different than males that increased elevation may elicit slightly different VO2 responses. Many lines of interdisciplinary research also suggest the possibility of superior running economy in females compared to males. As such, any measurement of endurance ability should include incremental stages of at least 3-5 minutes to allow time to reach steady state and calculate an estimate of economy at each intensity. Finally, the neuromuscular efficiency of female runners suggests that they may have a lower fatigability than male runners, and, especially at an elite level, both sexes can certainly handle long duration tests. Based on these key theories and recommendations, the optimal protocol for the population in this study should be an incremental (3-5 minutes per stage), pace-adjusted (same relative intensity expressed as a percentage of VO2 max), graded exercise test (below 10% incline). Future research should use large-scale randomized control trials to validate such a protocol for this population collecting data on VO2 max, running economy, and participant feedback on the smoothness of the testing process.

Given the current literature, the protocol selected for this project was modeled after an existing study that adhered to the recommended grade and duration parameters. Saunders et. al. tested 11 elite male distance runners (VO2 max = 70.3 ± 7.3 mL.kg-1.min-1) on two separate occasions 7 days apart. The chosen protocol consisted of 3 4-minute bouts of submaximal running at 14, 16, and 18 km/hour separated by 1 minute rest at 0% grade. Finally, a maximal ramp protocol was initiated beginning at 18 km/hour and every minute incrementally increasing first speed to 20 km/hour and then grade by 1% until exhaustion (37). The present research study elected to maintain a 1% grade throughout the test to better simulate the pace-specific effort and improve familiarity for the athletes in the study who typically performed all treadmill runs at 1% grade. Additionally, the maximal testing portion began at 20 km/hour for the men in order to limit test durations greater than 20-25 minutes. Finally, paces were adjusted to 10, 12, 14, and 16 km/hour for females according to IAAF conversion tables as well as participant feedback.

The Saunders study also incorporated a second test within one week after the first which was intended to measure test reliability. Researchers found an average typical error of 2.4% for VO2, 7.3% for VE, 27% for Lac, 1 and 4% for respiratory exchange ratio and HR (37). Given these findings, changes above 2.4% from preseason to postseason testing in the present study

may be considered "real" and be indicative of physiological training adaptations rather than testing error.

REFERENCES

- Meeusen, R., Duclos, M., Gleeson, M., Rietjens, G., Steinacker., J & Urhausen, A. (2006) Prevention, diagnosis and treatment of the Overtraining Syndrome, European Journal of Sport Science, 6:1, 1-14, DOI: 10.1080/17461390600617717
- Maupin D, Schram B, Canetti E, Orr R. (2020). The Relationship Between Acute: Chronic Workload Ratios and Injury Risk in Sports: A Systematic Review. Open Access J Sports Med. 2020 Feb 24;11:51-75. doi: 10.2147/OAJSM.S231405. PMID: 32158285; PMCID: PMC7047972.
- Harrison, Peter W.1; Johnston, Rich D.2. (2017). Relationship Between Training Load, Fitness, and Injury Over an Australian Rules Football Preseason. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research* 31(10):p 2686-2693, October 2017. | DOI: 10.1519/JSC.000000000001829
- Brewer, C., Dawson, B., Heasman, J., Stewart, G., & Cormack, S. (2010). Movement pattern comparisons in elite (AFL) and sub-elite (WAFL) Australian football games using GPS. Journal of science and medicine in sport, 13(6), 618–623. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2010.01.005
- Herman L, Foster C, Maher MA, Mikat RP, Porcari JP. (2006). Validity and reliability of the session RPE method for monitoring exercise training intensity. *S Afr J Sports Med* 18: 14–15, 2006. 17.

- 6. Cabre, Hannah E., et al. (2021). Characterization of the Relationship Between Workload and Collegiate Track and Field Performances: A Pilot Study. *Journal of Exercise Physiology Online*, vol. 24, no. 5, Oct. 2021, pp. 48+. *Gale Academic OneFile*, link.gale.com/apps/doc/A680903273/AONE?u=chic30910&sid=googleScholar&xid=70a a6194.
- Kerr, Z. Y., Marshall, S. W., Dompier, T. P., Corlette, J., Klossner, D. A., Gilchrist, J. (2015). College Sports-Related Injuries United States, 2009-10 Through 2013-14 Academic Years. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015 Dec 11; 64(48): 1330– 1336. Published online 2015 Dec 11. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6448a2
- Hopkins C, Williams J, Rauh MJ, Zhang L. (2022). Epidemiology of NCAA Track and Field Injuries From 2010 to 2014. *Orthop J Sports Med.* 2022 Jan 26;10(1):23259671211068079. doi: 10.1177/23259671211068079. PMID: 35111863; PMCID: PMC8801656.
- Nakaoka, G., Barboza, S.D., Verhagen, E. *et al.* (2021). The Association Between the Acute:Chronic Workload Ratio and Running-Related Injuries in Dutch Runners: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Sports Med* 51, 2437–2447 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01483-0
- V. Hill, Hartley Lupton. (1923). Muscular Exercise, Lactic Acid, and the Supply and Utilization of Oxygen, *QJM: An International Journal of Medicine*, Volume os-16, Issue 62, January 1923, Pages 135–171, https://doi.org/10.1093/qjmed/os-16.62.135

- Nicholas M. Beltz, Ann L. Gibson, Jeffrey M. Janot, Len Kravitz, Christine M. Mermier, Lance C. Dalleck. (2016). "Graded Exercise Testing Protocols for the Determination of VO2max: Historical Perspectives, Progress, and Future Considerations", *Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 2016, Article ID 3968393, 12 pages, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3968393
- Santisteban KJ, Lovering AT, Halliwill JR, Minson CT. (2022). Sex Differences in VO_{2max} and the Impact on Endurance-Exercise Performance. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. 2022; 19(9):4946. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19094946
- Chumanov ES, Wall-Scheffler C, Heiderscheit BC. (2008). Gender differences in walking and running on level and inclined surfaces. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2008;23(10):1260-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.07.011.
- 14. Ferber R, Davis IM, Williams DS 3rd. (2003). Gender differences in lower extremity mechanics during running. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon). 2003;18(4):350–7.
- 15. Sinclair J, Greenhalgh A, Edmundson CJ, Brooks D, Hobbs SJ. (2012). Gender differences in the kinetics and kinematics of distance running: implications for footwear design. *Int J Sports Sci Eng.* 2012;6(2):118–28.
- Burfoot, A. The History of the Marathon. Sports Med 37, 284–287 (2007).
 https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200737040-00003
- 17. Whipp, B. J., & Ward, S. (1992). Will women soon outrun men?. *Nature*, 355(6355), 25-25.

- Andersen JJ. (2019) The state of running. *Athletic shoe reviews*.
 https://runrepeat.com/state-of running. Published September 21, 1970. Accessed
 December 8, 2022.
- Joseph T. Costello, Francois Bieuzen & Chris M. Bleakley (2014) Where are all the female participants in Sports and Exercise Medicine research?, *European Journal of Sport Science*, 14:8, 847-851, DOI: 10.1080/17461391.2014.911354
- 20. Pinn V. W. (1994). The role of the NIH's Office of Research on Women's Health. *Academic medicine : journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges*, 69(9), 698–702. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001888-199409000-00003
- James Nuzzo (2021) Volunteer Bias and Female Participation in Exercise and Sports Science *Research*, *Quest*, 73:1, 82-101, DOI: 10.1080/00336297.2021.1875248
- Fletcher, G. F., et al., (2013, July 22). Exercise standards for testing and training. Circulation. DOI: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/cir.0b013e31829b5b44
- Bruce RA, Blackmon JR, Jones JW, et al. (1963). Exercising testing in adult normal subjects and cardiac patients. *Pediatrics* 1963;32(Suppl) 742–756.
- 24. Marko, David; Bahenský, Petr; Snarr, Ronald L.; Malátová, Renata. (2022). Vo2peak Comparison of a Treadmill Vs. Cycling Protocol in Elite Teenage Competitive Runners, Cyclists, and Swimmers. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 36;10
- 25. Michael L. Pollock, Richard L. Bohannon, Kenneth H. Cooper, John J. Ayres, Ann Ward, Steve R. White, A.C. Linnerud. (1976). A comparative analysis of four protocols for maximal treadmill stress testing, American Heart Journal, Volume 92, Issue 1, 1976, Pages 39-46, ISSN 0002-8703, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-8703(76)80401-2.

- 26. M. J. Buchfuhrer, J. E. Hansen, T. E. Robinson, D. Y. Sue, K. Wasserman, and B. J. Whipp. (1983). Optimizing the exercise protocol for cardiopulmonary assessment. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 1983 55:5, 1558-1564
- 27. Yoon, B. K., Kravitz, L., & Robergs, R. (2007). V O2max, protocol duration, and the V
 O2 plateau. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 39(7), 1186-1192.
- 28. Nicholas M. Beltz, Ann L. Gibson, Jeffrey M. Janot, Len Kravitz, Christine M. Mermier, Lance C. Dalleck. (2016). Graded Exercise Testing Protocols for the Determination of VO2max: Historical Perspectives, Progress, and Future Considerations. *Journal of Sports Medicine*, vol. 2016, Article ID 3968393, 12 pages, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/3968393
- Ceridon, M.L.; Beck, K.C.; Olson, T.P.; Bilezikian, J.A.; Johnson, B.D. (2010).
 Calculating alveolar capillary conductance and pulmonary capillary blood volume: Comparing the multiple-and single-inspired oxygen tension methods. *J. Appl. Physiol.* 2010, *109*, 643–653.
- 30. Giraldeau, G.; Kobayashi, Y.; Finocchiaro, G.; Wheeler, M.; Perez, M.; Kuznetsova, T.; Lord, R.; George, K.P.; Oxborough, D.; Schnittger, I.; et al. (2015). Gender Differences in Ventricular Remodeling and Function in College Athletes, Insights from Lean Body Mass Scaling and Deformation Imaging. *Am. J. Cardiol.* 2015, *116*, 1610–1616.
- 31. Whyte, G.P.; George, K.; Sharma, S.; Firoozi, S.; Stephens, N.; Senior, R.; McKenna,
 W.J. (2004). The upper limit of physiological cardiac hypertrophy in elite male and
 female athletes: The British experience. *Eur. J. Appl. Physiol.* 2004, *92*, 592–597.
- Hale R. (1984). Factors important to women engaged in vigorous physical activity. *Sports medicine*. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1984. p. 250–69.

- 33. Besson, T., Macchi, R., Rossi, J. et al. (2022). Sex Differences in Endurance Running. Sports Med 52, 1235–1257 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-022-01651w
- Phinyomark A, Hettinga BA, Osis ST, Ferber R. (2014). Gender and age-related differences in bilateral lower extremity mechanics during treadmill running. *PLoS ONE*. 2014;9(8): e105246. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105246.
- Helgerud J, Støren Ø, Hoff J. (2010). Are there differences in running economy at different velocities for well-trained distance runners? *Eur J Appl Physiol*. 2010;108(6):1099–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-009-1218-z.
- 36. Santuz A, Janshen L, Bruell L, Munoz-Martel V, Taborri J, Rossi S, et al. (2021). Sexspecific tuning of modular muscle activation patterns for locomotion in young and older adults. bioRxiv.
- 37. Saunders, P. U., Pyne, D. B., Telford, R. D., & Hawley, J. A. (2004). Reliability and variability of running economy in elite distance runners. *Medicine and science in sports* and exercise, 36(11), 1972–1976. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.mss.0000145468.17329.9f

APPENDIX A: CONSENT FORM SCHOOL OF KNR – EXERCISE PHYSIOLOGY LABORATORY INFORMED CONSENT

Thank you for your interest in the services that are provided by the Exercise Physiology Laboratory. We feel that the information that can be provided to you as a result of these physical assessments will benefit you as you continue to make decisions regarding your health and wellbeing. While we are pleased to be able to provide you feedback regarding the physical fitness assessments that you have selected, we also like to be able to utilize that information measured to better understand fitness trends and activity of those individuals who utilize the Exercise Physiology Laboratory. Therefore, this form will serve two purposes; 1) allow you to provide your consent for us to perform the physical assessments that you are interested in, and 2) give your consent for us to be able to use the information measured for research purposes on the condition that your identity will remain anonymous. Read through both sections of the Informed Consent and sign where indicated. Additionally it should be noted that this form also serves as Parental Informed Consent and Informed Assent Agreement for participants that are under the age of 18 years of age.

Part 1 - Informed Consent for Physical Assessments

I fully recognize that there are dangers and risks to which I may be exposed by participating, voluntarily, in the following tests. I understand that Illinois State University does not require me to participate in this activity, but I want to do so, despite the possible dangers and risks and despite this Informed Consent form. I therefore agree to assume and take on myself all of the risks and responsibilities in any way associated with the following tests and further release, indemnify and agree to hold harmless the State of Illinois, Illinois State University and its governing board, officers, attorneys, employees, and agents from any and all claims, causes of action, judgments, fees, and accounts receivable that may arise from injury or harm to me, from my death or from damage to my property, whether in tort or in contract, including any past, present, or future claims or injuries that have arisen or may arise, in connection with the administering of the tests. This release shall be binding on my heirs, including my parents, spouse, children, successors, assigns, representatives, and attorneys. I have had the opportunity to answer all questions regarding the testing procedures.





Address and Phone number:

Name (please print)

Signature

Parent's Name (if under 18)(please print)

Parent's Signature (if under 18)

Date

SCHOOL OF KNR – EXERCISE PHYSIOLOGY LABORATORY

Illinois State University

Part 2 - Informed Consent for Research Participation

Data Use for Research Purposes:

The ongoing analysis of information collected from individuals during physical fitness assessments is important for our further understanding of the role activity plays in the health and wellbeing of Americans. Your information will help us gain a better understanding of the type of response expected across a wide spectrum of ages, genders, and ethnicities.

What additional expectations are there for you for research purposes:

Nothing more, other than your consent. We are not asking you (or your child) to do anything additional than what you came to the Exercise Physiology Laboratory for in the first place. If you agree to allow your (or your child's) data to be used, we only need you (and your child) to sign this form, the attached informed consent form, and return both forms back to us.

Risks & Benefits:

<u>Risks</u>. There are minimal risks involved with your (or your child's) data being used in this research project. Your (or your child's) information will be completely anonymous and confidential. In other words, your name (or your child's) will not appear anywhere on the results produced from this research and only the Exercise Physiology Laboratory Director will have access to the data. <u>Benefits</u>. There are no direct benefits to you (or your child) in having your data included for research purposes. However, your information will help us to better understand physical fitness characteristics of individuals in our society. This is extremely important given the significant role the physical fitness plays in the relationship to various disease processes.

Voluntary Participation & Confidentiality:

<u>Participation</u>. Your participation (or your child's) in these physical assessments are completely voluntary and done so at your choosing/desire. If you decide not to have your (or your child's) data included for research purposes, do not sign/return the bottom of part 2 of this form and the data will be left out of potential future research studies. <u>Confidentiality</u>. Your (or your child's) information will be handled confidentially. Your (or your child's) name will not appear in any of the publications/presentations that result from your (or their) involvement with the Exercise Physiology Laboratory. Further, we will not show your (or your child's) data to anyone else. All data will be kept in a locked file within the Exercise Physiology Laboratory.

Who to contact if you have questions about the use of data for research purposes:

Dr. Dale D. Brown, School of Kinesiology and Recreation, Illinois State University, Normal, IL 61790-5120. Telephone (309) 438-7547.

Who to contact if you have questions about your rights in the study:

ISU Research Ethics & Compliance Office, Normal, IL 67901-5900. Telephone (309) 438-2529.

If you agree to allow your data (or your child's) to be included in the research study described above, please sign and date this form, and return the forms prior to your assessments.

Address and Phone number:

Name (please print)

Signature

Parent's Name (if under 18)(please print)

Parent's Signature (if under 18)

Date